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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 ​
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“Quarterly Report”) includes statements of our expectations, intentions, plans and beliefs that constitute “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), and are intended to come within the safe harbor protection provided by those sections. The statements,
other than statements of historical fact, included in this Quarterly Report are forward-looking statements.   Many of the forward-looking statements contained in this
Quarterly Report   may be identified by the use of forward-looking words such as “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “estimates,” “projects,”
“forecasts,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “will,” “confident,” “may,” “can,” “potential,” “possible,” “proposed,” “in process,” “in development,” “opportunity,” “target,”
“outlook,” “maintain,” “continue,” “goal,” “aim,” “commit,” or similar expressions  or when we discuss our future operating results, priorities, strategy, goals, vision,
mission, opportunities, projections, intentions or expectations.   Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been correct. Because these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties,
actual results could differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the continued
acceptance of the Company’s distribution channel by vendors and customers, the timely availability and acceptance of new products, product mix, market conditions,
competitive pricing pressures, the successful integration of acquisitions, contribution of key vendor relationships and support programs, including vendor rebates and
discounts, inflation, import and export tariffs, interest rate risk and impact thereof, as well as factors that affect the software industry in general and other factors generally.
We strongly urge current and prospective investors to carefully consider the cautionary statements and risk factors contained in this report and our annual report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 11, 2025.
 ​
The Company operates in a rapidly changing business, and new risk factors emerge from time to time. Management cannot predict every risk factor, nor can it assess the
impact, if any, of all such risk factors on the Company’s business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially
from those projected in any forward-looking statements.
 ​
Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of actual results and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of their dates. Except as may be required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
 ​
The statements concerning future sales, future gross profit margin and future selling and administrative expenses are forward looking statements involving certain risks and
uncertainties such as availability of products, product mix, pricing pressures, market conditions and other factors, which could result in a fluctuation of sales below recent
experience.
 ​
Unless otherwise specified, the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refers to Climb Global Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries.
 ​
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 ​
Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 ​

Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts) ​

 
​   March 31,     December 31,  
​   2025     2024  
​   ​     ​  
ASSETS   ​     ​  
Current assets:   ​     ​  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 32,461    $ 29,778 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $734 and $588, respectively     240,230      341,597 
Inventory, net     2,328      2,447 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     6,144      6,874 
Total current assets     281,163      380,696 
​   ​     ​  
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net     13,264      12,853 
Goodwill     35,675      34,924 
Other intangibles, net     35,904      36,550 
Right-of-use assets, net     1,841      1,965 
Accounts receivable, net of current portion     1,183      1,174 
Other assets     715      824 
Deferred income tax assets     308      193 
Total assets   $ 370,053    $ 469,179 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   ​     ​  
​   ​     ​  
Current liabilities:   ​     ​  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 266,452    $ 370,397 
Lease liability, current portion     688      654 
Term loan, current portion     566      560 
Total current liabilities     267,706      371,611 
​   ​     ​  
Lease liability, net of current portion     1,502      1,685 
Deferred income tax liabilities     4,862      4,723 
Term loan, net of current portion     48      191 
Other non-current liabilities     381      381 
Total liabilities     274,499      378,591 
​   ​     ​  
Commitments and contingencies              
             
Stockholders’ equity:   ​     ​  
Common stock, $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 5,284,500 shares issued: 4,584,055 and 4,601,302 shares outstanding,
respectively     53      53 
Additional paid-in capital     39,532      37,977 
Treasury stock, at cost, 700,445 and 683,198 shares, respectively     (14,397)     (13,337)
Retained earnings     71,705      68,787 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (1,339)     (2,892)

Total stockholders’ equity     95,554      90,588 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 370,053    $ 469,179 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

 
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
​   ​     ​  
Net sales   $ 138,044    $ 92,422 
                 
Cost of sales     114,648      75,402 
                 
Gross profit     23,396      17,020 
                 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses     16,755      12,523 
                 
Acquisition related costs     126      123 
                 
Depreciation and amortization expense     1,737      871 
                 
Income from operations     4,778      3,503 
                 
Other income and (expense):                
                 
Interest, net     186      203 
                 
Foreign currency transaction loss     (580)     (85)
                 
Change in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration     (136)     — 
                 
Income before provision for income taxes     4,248      3,621 
                 
Provision for income taxes     564      890 
                 
Net income   $ 3,684    $ 2,731 
                 
Income per common share-Basic   $ 0.81    $ 0.60 
                 
Income per common share-Diluted   $ 0.81    $ 0.60 
                 
Weighted average common shares outstanding — Basic     4,497      4,438 
                 
Weighted average common shares outstanding — Diluted     4,497      4,438 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
 ​
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Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands)

​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
​   ​     ​  
Net income   $ 3,684    $ 2,731 
                 
Other comprehensive income (loss):                

Foreign currency translation adjustments     1,553      (718)
Other comprehensive income (loss)     1,553      (718)
                 
Comprehensive income   $ 5,237    $ 2,013 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
 ​
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Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

 
                                                    Accumulated          
                    Additional                             Other          
    Common Stock     Paid-In     Treasury     Retained     Comprehensive          
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Shares     Amount     Earnings     Income (Loss)     Total  
Balance at January 1, 2025     5,284,500    $ 53    $ 37,977      683,198    $ (13,337)   $ 68,787    $ (2,892)   $ 90,588 

Net income     —      —      —      —      —      3,684      —      3,684 
Translation adjustment     —      —      —      —      —      —      1,553      1,553 
Dividends paid (per common share
$0.17)     —      —      —      —      —      (766)     —      (766)
Share-based compensation expense     —      —      1,378      —      —      —      —      1,378 
Restricted stock grants (net of
forfeitures)     —      —      177      10,137      (177)     —      —      — 
Treasury shares repurchased     —      —      —      7,110      (883)     —      —      (883)

Balance at March 31, 2025     5,284,500    $ 53    $ 39,532      700,445    $ (14,397)   $ 71,705    $ (1,339)   $ 95,554 
 

                                                    Accumulated          
                    Additional                             Other          
    Common Stock     Paid-In     Treasury     Retained     Comprehensive          
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Shares     Amount     Earnings     Income (Loss)     Total  
Balance at January 1, 2024     5,284,500    $ 53    $ 34,647      711,052    $ (12,623)   $ 53,215    $ (522)   $ 74,770 

Net income     —      —      —      —      —      2,731      —      2,731 
Translation adjustment     —      —      —      —      —      —      (718)     (718)
Dividends paid (per common share

$0.17)     —      —      —      —      —      (756)     —      (756)
Share-based compensation expense     —      —      854      —      —      —      —      854 
Restricted stock grants (net of

forfeitures)     —      —      (331)     (18,938)     331      —      —      — 
Treasury shares repurchased     —      —      —      7,255      (432)     —      —      (432)

Balance at March 31, 2024     5,284,500    $ 53    $ 35,170      699,369    $ (12,724)   $ 55,190    $ (1,240)   $ 76,449 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
 ​
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Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands) 

 
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Cash flows from operating activities   ​     ​  
Net income   $ 3,684    $ 2,731 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities:   ​     ​  
Depreciation and amortization expense   1,737    871 
Provision for doubtful accounts   35    45 
Deferred income tax benefit   (130)   (77)
Share-based compensation expense   1,323    822 
Gain on disposal of fixed assets   (5)   — 
Amortization of discount on accounts receivable   (12)   (6)
Amortization of right-of-use assets   170    29 
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out consideration   136    — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:           
Accounts receivable   103,235    40,435 
Inventory   171    1,824 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   722    115 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (102,524)   (31,024)
Lease liability, net   (195)   (63)
Other assets and liabilities   110    (1,655)
Net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities     8,457      14,047 
​   ​     ​  
Cash flows from investing activities   ​     ​  
Purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements and capitalization of internal-use software   (729)   (1,180)
Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities     (729)     (1,180)
​   ​     ​  
Cash flows from financing activities   ​     ​  
Purchase of treasury stock   (883)   (432)
Repayments of borrowings under credit facilities   —    (4,229)
Repayments of borrowings under term loan   (138)   (133)
Dividends paid   (766)   (756)
Contingent consideration paid   (3,559)   — 
Net cash and cash equivalents used in financing activities     (5,346)     (5,550)
​   ​     ​  
Effect of foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents   301    (40)
​   ​     ​  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents     2,683      7,277 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     29,778      36,295 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 32,461    $ 43,572 
​   ​     ​  
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:   ​     ​  
Income taxes paid   $384    $272 
Interest paid   $32    $68 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
 ​
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Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2025
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in tables in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
1.           Basis of Presentation:
 ​

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the
instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01  of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, as permitted by the rules and regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete audited financial statements.
 ​

The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including
those related to product returns, bad debts, inventories, intangible assets, income taxes, stock-based compensation, evaluation of performance obligations and allocation of
revenue to distinct items, contingencies and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on its historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. In the opinion of the Company’s management, all adjustments that are of a normal recurring nature, considered necessary for fair presentation of the
results for the periods presented, have been included in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. The Company’s actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The unaudited condensed consolidated statements of earnings for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of
results for the full year. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities Exchange Commission for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.
 ​

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated.
 ​
Reclassifications
 ​

Certain reclassifications and immaterial revisions have been made to the prior period financial statements to conform to the current-year presentation.
 
2.           Recently Issued Accounting Standards:
 ​

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, “Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic
220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses”. This ASU requires entities to disaggregate expense items in the notes to the financial statements and requires
disclosure of specified information related to purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and intangible asset amortization. The amendments in this ASU
are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Companies have the option to apply the
guidance either on a retrospective or prospective basis, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the ASU on its condensed
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU No. 2025-01, Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income –
Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Clarifying the Effective Date. This ASU amends the effective date of ASU No. 2024-03 to clarify that all public
business entities are required to adopt the guidance in annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption of ASU No. 2024-03 is permitted.
 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “ Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures ”. Upon adoption of this ASU, the
Company will disclose specific new categories in its income tax rate reconciliation and provide additional information for reconciling items above a quantitative threshold.
The Company will also disclose the amount of income taxes paid disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign taxes, and also disaggregated by individual jurisdictions in
which income taxes paid were above a threshold. The Company expects these amendments will first be applied in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2025, on a prospective basis.
 
3.           Foreign Currency Translation:
 ​

Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries have been translated using the end of the reporting period exchange rates, and related revenues and
expenses have been translated at average rates of exchange in effect during the period. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the applicable functional currency
are converted to the functional currency at the exchange rate on the transaction date. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded as income or expenses as
amounts are settled. The net sales from our foreign operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 were $31.0 million and $28.2 million, respectively.

 
The Company’s foreign currency exposure relates primarily to international transactions where the currency collected from customers can be different from the

currency used to purchase the product. In cases where the Company is not able to create a natural hedge by maintaining offsetting asset and liability amounts in the same
currency, it may enter into foreign exchange contracts, typically in the form of forward purchase agreements, to facilitate the hedging of foreign currency exposures to
mitigate the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These contracts generally have terms of no more than three months. The Company does not apply hedge
accounting to these contracts and therefore the changes in fair value are recorded in earnings. The Company does not enter into foreign exchange contracts for trading
purposes and the risk of loss on a foreign exchange contract is the risk of nonperformance by the counterparties, which the Company minimizes by limiting its
counterparties to major financial institutions. The Company recognized an unrealized loss of less than $0.1 million on contracts outstanding as of March 31, 2025, which is
included in foreign currency transaction loss in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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4.           Comprehensive Income:
 ​

Cumulative translation adjustments have been classified within accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 220, “Comprehensive Income.”
 
5.           Revenue Recognition:
 

The Company’s revenues primarily result from the sale of various technology products and services, including third-party products, third-party software and third-
party maintenance, software support and services. The Company recognizes revenue when  control of the  third-party products and  third-party software is transferred to
customers, which generally happens at the point of shipment or fulfilment and at the point that our customers and vendors accept the terms and conditions of the
arrangement for third-party maintenance, software support and services.
 

The Company has contracts with certain customers where the Company’s performance obligation is to arrange for the products or services to be provided by
another party. In these arrangements, as the Company assumes an agency relationship in the transaction, revenue is recognized in the amount of the net fee associated with
serving as an agent. These arrangements primarily relate to third party maintenance, cloud services and certain security software whose intended functionality is dependent
on third party maintenance.
 

The Company allows its customers to return product for exchange or credit subject to certain limitations. A liability is recorded at the time of sale for estimated
product returns based upon historical experience, which is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and an asset is
recognized for the amount expected to be recorded upon product return, which is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
If actual sales returns are greater than estimated by management, an additional returns allowance  may be required as an offset to net sales. The Company also provides
rebates and other discounts to certain customers which are considered variable consideration. A provision for customer rebates and other discounts is recorded as a reduction
of revenue at the time of sale based on an evaluation of the contract terms and historical experience.
 

The Company considers shipping and handling activities as costs to fulfill the sales of products. Shipping revenue is included in net sales when control of the
product is transferred to the customer, and the related shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales. Taxes imposed by governmental authorities on the
Company’s revenue producing activities with customers, such as sales taxes and value added taxes, are excluded from net sales.
 

The Company disaggregates its operating revenue by segment, geography and timing of revenue recognition, which the Company believes provides a meaningful
depiction of the nature of its revenue. For additional information, see Note 17 –  Segment Information.
 

Hardware and software products sold by the Company are generally delivered via shipment from the Company’s facilities, drop shipment directly from the vendor,
or by electronic delivery of keys for software products. The majority of the Company’s business involves shipments directly from its vendors to its customers, in these
transactions, the Company is generally responsible for negotiating price both with the vendor and customer, fulfillment of the order, payment to the vendor, establishing
payment terms with the customer, product returns, and has risk of loss if the customer does not make payment. As the principal with the customer, the Company recognizes
revenue upon receiving notification from the vendor that the product was shipped. Control of software products is deemed to have passed to the customer when they acquire
the right to use or copy the software under license as substantially all product functionality is available to the customer at the time of sale.
 ​

The Company performs an analysis of the number of days of sales in-transit to customers at the end of each reporting period based on an analysis of commercial
delivery terms that include drop-shipment arrangements. This analysis is the basis upon which the Company estimates the amount of net sales in-transit at the end of the
period and adjusts revenue and the related costs to reflect only what has been delivered to the customer. Changes in delivery patterns  may result in a different number of
business days estimated to make this adjustment. The Company also performs a weighted average analysis of the estimated number of days between order fulfillment and
beginning of the renewal term for term licenses recorded on a gross basis, and a deferral estimate is recorded for term license renewals fulfilled prior to commencement
date.
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Generally, software products are sold with accompanying  third-party delivered software assurance, which is a product that allows customers to upgrade,
at no additional cost, to the latest technology if new capabilities are introduced during the period that the software assurance is in effect. The Company evaluates whether
the software assurance is a separate performance obligation by assessing if the third-party delivered software assurance is critical or essential to the core functionality of the
software itself. This involves considering if the software provides its original intended functionality to the customer without the updates, if the customer would ascribe a
higher value to the upgrades versus the up-front deliverable, if the customer would expect frequent intelligence updates to the software (such as updates that maintain the
original functionality), and if the customer chooses to not delay or always install upgrades. If the Company determines that the accompanying third-party delivered software
assurance is critical or essential to the core functionality of the software license, the software license and the accompanying third-party delivered software assurance are
recognized as a single performance obligation. The value of the product is primarily the accompanying support delivered by a  third party and therefore the Company is
acting as an agent in these transactions and recognizes them on a net basis at the point the associated software license is delivered to the customer. The Company sells cloud
computing solutions that utilize  third-party vendors to enable customers to access data center functionality in a cloud-based solution, including storage, computing and
networking and access to software in the cloud that enhances office productivity, provides security or assists in collaboration. The Company recognizes revenue for cloud
computing solutions for arrangements with one-time invoicing to the customer at the time of invoice on a net basis as the Company is acting as an agent in the transaction.
For monthly subscription-based arrangements, the Company is acting as an agent in the transaction and recognizes revenue as it invoices the customer for its monthly usage
on a net basis. For software licenses where the accompanying  third-party delivered software assurance is not  critical or essential to the core functionality, the software
assurance is recognized as a separate performance obligation, with the associated revenue recognized on a net basis at the point the related software license is delivered to
the customer.

 
The Company also sells some of its products and services as part of bundled contract arrangements containing multiple deliverables, which   may  include a

combination of products and services. For each deliverable that represents a distinct performance obligation, total arrangement consideration is allocated based upon the
standalone selling prices (“SSP”) of each performance obligation. SSP is determined based on the price at which the performance obligation is sold separately. If the
standalone selling price is not observable through established standard prices, we use judgement and estimate the standalone selling price considering available information
such as market pricing and pricing related to similar products.
 

The Company pays commissions and related payroll taxes to sales personnel when customers are invoiced. These costs are recorded as selling, general and
administrative expenses in the period earned as all our performance obligations are complete within a short window of processing the order.
 
6.            Acquisition:
 

On  July 31, 2024, Climb Global Solutions DSS, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (the
“Purchase Agreement”) and purchased the entire share capital of Douglas Stewart Software & Services, LLC (“DSS”), a Florida limited liability company, for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $20.3  million (subject to certain adjustments) plus a potential post-closing earnout payment.  DSS distributes software to value added
resellers (“VARs”) and campus stores across North America in both the K-12  and higher education markets, furthering the Company's reach into these markets. The
Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities. The acquisition was funded utilizing cash from the Company’s balance
sheet.
 

The purchase consideration included approximately $1.7 million fair value for potential earn-out consideration if certain targets are achieved by September 30,
2025, payable in cash. As of March 31, 2025, the Company reassessed the earn-out liability and increased the fair value of the earn out liability to approximately
$2.0  million, with  $0.1  million adjustment recognized within change in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration during the  three months ended March 31,
2025.  The fair value earn-out measurement was primarily based on inputs that are not observable, which are categorized as a Level 3 measurement in the fair value
hierarchy (See Note 18 – Fair Value Measurements), reflecting its assessment of the assumptions market participants would use to value these liabilities. The undiscounted
payment of the earn-out can range from zero up to approximately $4.2 million and achievement is based on the post-acquisition results of DSS.
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7.            Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:
 ​

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2025:
 ​
​   Distribution     Solutions     Consolidated  
Balance December 31, 2024   $ 26,530    $ 8,394    $ 34,924 
Translation adjustments     484      267      751 
Balance March 31, 2025   $ 27,014    $ 8,661    $ 35,675 
 

Information related to the Company’s other intangibles, net is as follows:
 ​
​   As of March 31, 2025  
​   Gross             Net  
    Carrying     Accumulated     Carrying  
    Amount     Amortization     Amount  
Customer and vendor relationships   $ 44,691    $ 9,137    $ 35,554 
Trade name     496      146      350 
Total   $ 45,187    $ 9,283    $ 35,904 
 
​   As of December 31, 2024  
​   Gross             Net  
    Carrying     Accumulated     Carrying  
    Amount     Amortization     Amount  
Customer and vendor relationships   $ 43,805    $ 7,603    $ 36,202 
Trade name     481      133      348 
Total   $ 44,286    $ 7,736    $ 36,550 
 

Customer relationships are amortized over thirteen years. Vendor relationships are amortized between four and fifteen years. Trade name is amortized over fifteen
years.
 ​

During the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized total amortization expense for other intangibles, net of $1.3  million and
$0.7 million, respectively.
 ​

Estimated future amortization expense of the Company’s other intangibles, net as of March 31, 2025 is as follows:
 ​
2025 (excluding the three months ended March 31, 2025)   $ 4,501 
2026     5,547 
2027     4,046 
2028     3,796 
2029     3,546 
Thereafter     14,468 
Total   $ 35,904 
 
 
8.            Right-of-use Asset and Lease Liability:
 ​

The Company has entered into operating leases for office and warehouse facilities, which have terms at lease commencement that range from 2 years to 11 years.
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and
lease expense for these leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 ​
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Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date of the lease based on the present value of the lease
payments over the lease term. As our leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate, we use an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at
commencement date, including lease term, in determining the present value of future payments. The operating lease asset also includes any lease payments made and
excludes lease incentives. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
 ​

Information related to the Company’s ROU assets and related lease liabilities were as follows:
 ​
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities   $ 228    $ 160 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations   $ —    $ 69 
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)     3.3      2.9 
Weighted-average discount rate     5.7%    3.7%
 

Maturities of lease liabilities as of March 31, 2025 were as follows:
 ​
2025 (excluding the three months ended March 31, 2025)   $ 585 
2026   991 
2027   538 
2028   329 
2029   286 
​     2,729 
Less: imputed interest     (539)
Total lease liabilities   $ 2,190 
​   ​  
Lease liabilities, current portion     688 
Lease liabilities, net of current portion     1,502 
Total lease liabilities   $ 2,190 
 
 
9.            Fair Value:
 ​

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, short-term accounts receivable, accounts payable and term loan approximated
fair value at March 31, 2025 and   December 31, 2024 because of the relative short maturity of these instruments. The Company’s accounts receivable long-term are
discounted to their present value at prevailing market rates at the time of sale.
 
10.         Balance Sheet Detail:
 ​

Equipment and leasehold improvements consist of the following:
 ​
​   March 31,     December 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Equipment   $ 3,261    $ 2,951 
Capitalized software     12,349      11,821 
Buildings     696      668 
Leasehold improvements     2,466      2,426 
​     18,772      17,866 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization     (5,508)     (5,013)
​   $ 13,264    $ 12,853 
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recorded depreciation and amortization expense of $1.7  million and $0.9  million,
respectively. 
 ​
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In limited circumstances, the Company offers extended payment terms to customers for periods of 12 to 36 months. The related customer receivables are classified
as accounts receivable long-term and discounted to their present value at prevailing market rates at the time of sale. In subsequent periods, the accounts receivable is
increased to the amounts due and payable by the customers through the accretion of interest income on the unpaid accounts receivable due in future years. The amounts
under these long-term accounts receivable due within one year are reclassified to the current portion of accounts receivable. Accounts receivable long term, net consists of
the following:
 ​
​   March 31,     December 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Total amount due from customer   $ 2,068    $ 2,459 
Less: unamortized discount     (90)     (102)
Less: current portion included in accounts receivable     (795)     (1,183)
​   $ 1,183    $ 1,174 
 

The undiscounted cash flows to be received by the Company relating to these accounts receivable long-term is expected to be $0.8 million, $0.8 million and $0.4
million, respectively, during each of the 12-month periods ending March 31, 2025, 2026, and 2027.
 ​

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:
 ​
​   March 31,     December 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Trade accounts payable   $ 247,829    $ 331,654 
Accrued expenses     9,705      17,179 
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses     8,918      21,564 
​   $ 266,452    $ 370,397 
 
 
11.          Credit Facility:
 ​

On May 18, 2023, the Company entered into a revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPM”), providing for a
revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million, including the issuance of letters of credit and swingline loans not to exceed $2.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively, at any
time outstanding. In addition, subject to certain conditions enumerated in the Credit Agreement, the Company has the right to increase the revolving credit facility by a total
amount not to exceed $20.0 million. The proceeds of the revolving loans, letters of credit and swingline loans under the Credit Agreement may be used for working capital
needs, general corporate purposes and for acquisitions permitted by the terms of the Credit Agreement.
 ​

All outstanding loans issued pursuant to the Credit Agreement become due and payable, on May 18, 2028. There were no amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreement as of March 31, 2025.
 ​

Outstanding Loans comprising (i) ABR Borrowings bear interest at the ABR plus the Applicable Rate, (ii) Term Benchmark Borrowings bear interest at the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, as applicable, plus the Applicable Rate and (iii) RFR Loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the
applicable Adjusted Daily Simple RFR plus the Applicable Rate. The Applicable Rate for borrowings varies (i) in the case of ABR Borrowings, from 0.50% to 0.75% and
(ii) in the case of Term Benchmark Borrowings and RFR Loans, from 1.50% to 1.75%.
 ​

The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants, such as financial statement and collateral reporting requirements. The Credit Agreement also
contains customary negative covenants that limit the ability of the Company to, among other things, incur indebtedness, create liens or permit encumbrances, or undergo
certain fundamental changes. Additionally, under certain circumstances, the Company is required to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.
 ​
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On April 8, 2022, the Company entered into a $2.1 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) with First American Commercial Bancorp, Inc. (“First American”)
pursuant to a Master Loan and Security Agreement. The proceeds from the Term Loan were used to fund certain capital expenditures. The borrowing under the Term Loan
bears interest at a rate of 3.73% per annum and is being repaid over forty-eight monthly installments of principal and interest through April 2026.
 ​

At March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had $0.6 million and $0.8 million outstanding under the Term Loan, respectively. At March 31, 2025,
future principal payments under the Term Loan are as follows:
 ​
2025 (excluding the three months ended March 31, 2025)     566 
2026     48 
Total   $ 614 
 ​

In connection with the acquisition of Data Solutions, which was completed October 6, 2023, the Company acquired an invoice discounting facility ("IDF") that
was with recourse to the Company. Data Solutions had previously entered into the IDF with AIB Commercial Finance Limited ("AIB") pursuant to a Debt Purchase
Agreement. The Company subsequently terminated the IDF during the year ended December 31, 2024. The proceeds from the IDF were used for working capital needs of
Data Solutions. Borrowings under the IDF were based on accounts receivable up to 80% of the outstanding accounts receivable balance. The discount rate under the IDF
was equal to 2.5% above AIB's applicable lending rates that varied based on the currency of the accounts receivable.
 
12.          Earnings Per Share:
 ​

Our basic and diluted earnings per share are computed using the two-class method in accordance with ASC 260. The two-class method is an earnings allocation
that determines net income per share for each class of common stock and participating securities according to their participation rights in dividends and undistributed
earnings or losses. Non-vested restricted stock awards that include non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered participating securities. Per share amounts are
computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during each period. Diluted and basic earnings per share
are the same because the restricted shares are the only potentially dilutive security.

 
A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations follows:

 ​
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Numerator:   ​     ​  
Net income   $ 3,684    $ 2,731 
                 
Less distributed and undistributed income allocated to participating securities     (61)     63 
                 
Net income attributable to common shareholders     3,623      2,668 
                 
Denominator:                
Weighted average common shares (Basic)     4,497      4,438 
                 
Weighted average common shares including assumed conversions (Diluted)     4,497      4,438 
                 
Basic net income per share   $ 0.81    $ 0.60 
Diluted net income per share   $ 0.81    $ 0.60 
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13.          Major Customers and Vendors:
 ​

The Company had one major vendor that accounted for 13% of total purchases during the three months ended March 31, 2025, and 16% of total purchases during
the three months ended March 31, 2024.

 ​
The Company had two major customers that accounted for 26% and 13%% of net sales during the three months ended March 31, 2025, and 20% and 15%, of net

sales during the three months ended March 31, 2024. These same customers accounted for 23% and 5% of total net accounts receivable as of March 31, 2025, and 16% of
total net accounts receivable as of December 31, 2024.

 
14.          Income Taxes:
 ​

The Company has analyzed filing positions in all of the federal and state jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as all open tax years
in these jurisdictions. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as interest expense and penalties as operating expenses. The
Company believes that it has appropriate support for the income tax positions it takes and expects to take on its tax returns, and that its accruals for tax liabilities are
adequate for all open years based on an assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law applied to the facts of each matter.

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.6 million and 0.9 million, respectively. The

effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was 13.3% and 24.6%, respectively. The change in effective tax rate for the three months ended
March 31, 2025 compared to the same period in the prior year was primarily impacted by a discrete item for the recognition of excess tax benefits related to share-based
compensation in income tax expense. The recognition of excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation in income tax expense resulted in a net tax benefit of $0.5
million and reduced our effective tax rate by 10.7% during the three months ended March 31, 2025.
 
15.          Stockholders’ Equity and Stock Based Compensation:
 ​

The 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) authorizes the grant of Stock Options, Stock Units, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Deferred
Stock, Stock Bonuses and other equity-based awards. The 2021 Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholders at the 2021 Annual Meeting in June 2021. The total
number of shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”) initially available for award under the 2021 Plan was 500,000 shares. As
of March 31, 2025, the number of shares of Common Stock available for future award grants to employees, officers and directors under the 2021 Plan is 201,392.

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company granted a total of 1,906 shares of Restricted Stock to an officer. These shares of Restricted Stock vest

over time in sixteen equal quarterly installments. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, a total of 12,043 shares of Restricted Stock were forfeited.
 ​

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company granted a total of 18,938 shares of Restricted Stock to officers and employees. These shares of
Restricted Stock vest immediately, over time in three equal installments or over time in sixteen equal quarterly installments.
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A summary of nonvested shares of Restricted Stock awards outstanding under the 2021 Plan as of March 31, 2025, and changes during the three months then ended
is as follows:
 ​
​   ​     Weighted  
​   ​     Average Grant  
​   ​     Date  
​   Shares     Fair Value  
Nonvested shares at January 1, 2025     114,710    $ 47.23 
Granted in 2025     1,906      131.22 
Vested in 2025     (26,029)     47.81 
Forfeited in 2025     (12,043)     43.86 
Nonvested shares at March 31, 2025     78,544    $ 49.60 
 

As of March 31, 2025, there is approximately $3.4 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested share-based compensation arrangements.
The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $1.3  million and $0.8  million,
respectively.
 
16.          Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Severance Plan
 

The Board of Directors of the Company previously approved the Climb Global Solutions, Inc. Executive Severance and Change in Control Plan (the “Severance
Plan”), which supersedes and replaces all other severance arrangements between the Company and its executive officers, which previously had been governed by separate
legacy employment agreements and offer letters. The Severance Plan provides severance benefits upon a qualifying termination of employment (“Covered Termination”) of
an executive officer. The Severance Plan provides for three tiers of severance benefits in the event of a Covered Termination based on the executive’s seniority and position,
including payment of 6-18 months of base salary, a pro rata payment of such executive’s bonus for the year in which the Covered Termination occurred, and a COBRA
subsidy during the severance period. In the event the Covered Termination in connection with a change of control, the Severance Plan provides for increased severance
benefits, including payment of 18-24 months of base salary, payment of such executive’s target bonus for the year in which the Covered Termination occurred, double
trigger vesting acceleration of equity awards, and a COBRA subsidy during the severance period.
 

Other
 

As of  March 31, 2025, the Company has no standby letters of credit, has no standby repurchase obligations or other commercial commitments. The Company has
a line of credit see Note 11 (Credit Facility). Other than employment agreements and management compensation arrangements, the Company is not engaged in any other
transactions with related parties.
 
 
17.          Segment Information:
 ​

The Company distributes software developed by others through resellers indirectly to customers worldwide.   We also resell computer software and hardware
developed by others and provide technical services directly to customers worldwide.
 ​

FASB ASC Topic 280, “Segment Reporting,” requires that public companies report profits and losses and certain other information on their “reportable operating
segments” in their annual and interim financial statements. The internal organization used by the public company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) to assess
performance and allocate resources determines the basis for reportable operating segments. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who has been identified as the
Company’s CODM, evaluates the performance of both reportable segments based on operating income. Net sales, gross profit, and operating expenses are also monitored
closely. This information is used to measure segment profitability, allocate resources, and make budgeting and forecasting decisions about the reportable segments. The
CODM also uses these measures to monitor trends in year over year performance comparisons, sequential quarter performance comparisons, and to compare actual results
to forecasts. More disaggregated information about operating expense is generally only reviewed by the CODM on a consolidated basis. Operating income represents net
sales less costs of sales, excluding depreciation and amortization expense and operating expenses. Net sales and cost of sales, excluding depreciation and amortization
expense are directly attributed to each segment. The majority of operating expenses are also directly attributed to each segment, while certain other operating expenses are
allocated to the segments in a reasonable manner considering the specific facts and circumstances of the expenses being allocated.
 ​

The Company is organized into two reportable operating segments. The “Distribution” segment distributes technical software to corporate resellers, VARs,
consultants and systems integrators worldwide. The “Solutions” segment is a provider of cloud solutions and value-added reseller of software, hardware and services to
customers worldwide. The Company's reportable segments are based on products and services delivered, and the Company's CODM decides how to assess performance and
allocate resources based on segment.
 ​
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Segment income is based on segment revenue less the respective segment’s cost of revenues as well as segment direct costs (including such items as payroll costs
and payroll related costs, such as profit sharing, incentive awards and insurance) and excluding general and administrative expenses not attributed to an individual segment
business unit. The Company only identifies accounts receivable, vendor prepayments, inventory, goodwill and intangible assets by segment as shown below as “Selected
Assets” by segment; it does not allocate its other assets, including capital expenditures by segment. The following segment reporting information of the Company is
provided:
 ​
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Net Sales:   ​     ​  
Distribution   $ 132,162    $ 86,822 
Solutions     5,882      5,600 
​     138,044      92,422 
Cost of Sales:   ​     ​  
Distribution   $ 111,764    $ 72,607 
Solutions     2,884      2,795 
​     114,648      75,402 
Direct Costs:   ​     ​  
Distribution   $ 9,462    $ 7,376 
Solutions     1,470      1,381 
​     10,932      8,757 
Segment Income: (1)   ​     ​  
Distribution   $ 10,936    $ 6,839 
Solutions     1,528      1,424 

Segment Income     12,464      8,263 
​   ​     ​  
General and administrative   $ 5,823    $ 3,766 
Acquisition related costs     126      123 
Depreciation and amortization expense     1,737      871 
Interest, net     186      203 
Foreign currency transaction loss     (580)     (85)
Change in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration     (136)     — 
Income before taxes   $ 4,248    $ 3,621 
 
(1) Excludes general corporate expenses including acquisition related costs, amortization and depreciation expense, interest, foreign currency transaction loss, and change

in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration.
 ​
​   As of     As of  
​   March 31,     December 31,  
Selected Assets by Segment:   2025     2024  
​   ​     ​  
Distribution   $ 293,604    $ 394,809 
Solutions     21,715      21,882 
Segment Select Assets     315,319      416,691 
Corporate Assets     54,734      52,488 
Total Assets   $ 370,053    $ 469,179 
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Geographic areas and net sales mix related to operations for the  three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows. Revenue is allocated to a
geographic area based on the location of the sale, which is generally the customer’s country of domicile.
 ​
    Three months ended  
    March 31, 2025  
​   Distribution     Solutions     Total  
Geography                   ​  
USA   $ 105,088    $ 1,954    $ 107,042 
Europe and United Kingdom     18,594      3,779      22,373 
Canada     8,480      149      8,629 

Total net sales   $ 132,162    $ 5,882    $ 138,044 
​   ​     ​     ​  
Timing of Revenue Recognition                   ​  
Transferred at a point in time where the Company is principal (1)   $ 118,988    $ 4,299    $ 123,287 
Transferred at a point in time where the Company is agent (2)     13,174      1,583      14,757 

Total net sales   $ 132,162    $ 5,882    $ 138,044 
 
    Three months ended  
    March 31, 2024  
​   Distribution     Solutions     Total  
Geography                   ​  

USA   $ 62,364    $ 1,908    $ 64,272 
Europe and United Kingdom     18,285      3,406      21,691 
Canada     6,173      286      6,459 
Total net sales   $ 86,822    $ 5,600    $ 92,422 

​   ​     ​     ​  
Timing of Revenue Recognition                   ​  

Transferred at a point in time where the Company is principal (1)   $ 75,733    $ 3,558    $ 79,291 
Transferred at a point in time where the Company is agent (2)     11,089      2,042      13,131 
Total net sales   $ 86,822    $ 5,600    $ 92,422 

 
(1) Includes net sales from third-party hardware and software products.
 ​
(2) Includes net sales from third-party maintenance, software support and services.
 ​

Geographic identifiable assets related to operations as of  March 31, 2025 and  December 31, 2024 were as follows.
 ​
​   March 31,     December 31,  
Identifiable Assets by Geographic Areas   2025     2024  
USA   $ 221,465    $ 278,957 
Canada     31,440      34,352 
Europe and United Kingdom     117,148      155,870 

Total   $ 370,053    $ 469,179 
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18.          Fair Value Measurements
​

Fair value is defined under U.S. GAAP as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. A fair value hierarchy has been established for valuation inputs to prioritize the inputs into three levels based on the extent to which
inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. Each fair value measurement is reported in one of the three levels which is determined by the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. These levels are:
 ​

Level 1 – observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.
 ​

Level 2 – inputs are based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
active and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
 ​

Level 3 – inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability. The fair values are therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques.
 ​

The Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by level, within the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2025 and 
December 31, 2024, respectively, are as follows:
 ​
​   As of March 31, 2025  
​   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Liabilities:   ​     ​     ​     ​  

Contingent earn-out   $ —    $ —    $ 2,451    $ 2,451 
Total liabilities   $ —    $ —    $ 2,451    $ 2,451 
 
​   As of December 31, 2024  
Liabilities:   ​     ​     ​     ​  

Contingent earn-out   $ —    $ —    $ 5,896    $ 5,896 
Total liabilities   $ —    $ —    $ 5,896    $ 5,896 
 

In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the
extent possible. Observable or market inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions based on
the best information available. The approach to estimating the contingent earn-out associated with the Company’s business combinations uses unobservable factors such as
projected cash flows over the term of the contingent earn-out periods.
 ​
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The Company’s investment in treasury bills are measured at fair value on a recurring basis based on quoted market prices in active markets and are classified as
level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. The Company’s contingent earn-out liability is measured at fair value on a recurring basis and is classified as level 3 within the fair
value hierarchy. During the fourth quarter of each year, the Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level. The Company uses qualitative factors to
determine whether it is “more likely than not” that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to
perform a goodwill impairment test. This measurement is classified based on level 3 input.
 ​

The following table presents the changes in the Company’s level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
 ​
Balance December 31, 2024   $ 5,896 
Contingent earnout paid     (3,559)
Change in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration     136 
Translation adjustments     (22)
Balance March 31, 2025   $ 2,451 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company made a contingent consideration payment of $3.6  million in cash related to the acquisition of

Spinnakar Limited, which was completed on August 18, 2022. The payment was made based on Spinnakar's achievement of targets outlined in the acquisition agreement. 
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 ​
This following information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report and
the audited consolidated financial statements and notes, and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contained in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.  In addition to historical information, the following discussion
contains certain forward-looking information.  See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above for certain information concerning -forward-looking
statements.
 ​
Overview
 ​

Our Company is a value added IT distribution and solutions company, primarily selling software and other third-party IT products and services through two
reportable operating segments. Through our “Distribution” segment we sell products and services to corporate resellers, VARs, consultants and systems integrators
worldwide, who in turn sell these products to end users. Through our “Solutions” segment we act as a cloud solutions provider and value-added reseller, selling computer
software and hardware developed by others and provide technical services directly to end user customers worldwide. We offer an extensive line of products from leading
software vendors and tools for virtualization/cloud computing, security, networking, storage and infrastructure management, application lifecycle management and other
technically sophisticated domains as well as computer hardware. We market these products through creative marketing communications, including our web sites, local
seminars, webinars, social media, direct e-mail, and printed materials.
 ​

We have subsidiaries in the United States, Canada, Netherlands, United Kingdom and Ireland, through which sales are made.
 ​
Factors Influencing Our Financial Results
 ​

We derive most of our net sales through the sale of third-party software licenses, maintenance and service agreements. In our Distribution segment, sales are
impacted by the number of product lines we distribute, and sales penetration of those products into the reseller channel, product lifecycle competition, and demand
characteristics of the products which we are authorized to distribute. In our Solutions segment, sales are generally driven by sales force effectiveness and success in
providing superior customer service and cloud solutions support, competitive pricing, and flexible payment solutions to our customers. Our sales are also impacted by
external factors such as levels of IT spending and customer demand for products we distribute.
 ​

We sell in a competitive environment where gross product margins have historically declined due to competition and changes in product mix towards products
where no delivery of a physical product is required. In addition, we grant discounts, allowances, and rebates to certain customers, which may vary from period to period,
based on volume, payment terms and other criteria. To date, we have been able to implement cost efficiencies such as the use of drop shipments, EDI and other capabilities
to be able to operate our business profitably as gross margins have declined. We evaluate the profitability of our business based on return on equity and effective margin (see
discussions below).
 ​

Gross profit is calculated as net sales less cost of sales. We record customer rebates, discounts and returns as a component of net sales and record vendor rebates,
discounts and returns as a component of cost of sales.
 ​

Selling, general and administrative expenses are comprised mainly of employee salaries, commissions and other employee related expenses, facility costs, costs to
maintain our IT infrastructure, public company compliance costs and professional fees. We monitor our level of accounts payable, inventory turnover and accounts
receivable turnover which are measures of how efficiently we utilize capital in our business.
 ​

The Company’s sales, gross profit and results of operations have fluctuated and are expected to continue to fluctuate on a quarterly basis as a result of a number of
factors, including but not limited to: the condition of the software industry in general, shifts in demand for software products, pricing, industry shipments of new software
products or upgrades, fluctuations in merchandise returns, adverse weather conditions that affect response, distribution or shipping, import and export tariffs, shifts in the
timing of holidays and changes in the Company’s product offerings. The Company’s operating expenditures are based on sales forecasts. If sales do not meet expectations in
any given quarter, operating results may be materially adversely affected.
 ​
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Dividend Policy and Share Repurchase Program. Historically we have sought to return value to investors through the payment of quarterly dividends and share
repurchases. Total dividends paid and the dollar value of the shares repurchased were $0.8  million and $0.9  million, for the three months ended March 31, 2025,
respectively, and $0.7 million and $0.4 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2024, respectively. The payment of future dividends and share repurchases is at the
discretion of our Board of Directors and dependent on results of operations, projected capital requirements, and other factors the Board of Directors may find relevant.
 ​

Stock Volatility. The technology, distribution and services sectors of the United States stock markets is subject to substantial volatility. Numerous conditions which
impact these sectors or the stock market in general or the Company in particular, whether or not such events relate to or reflect upon the Company’s operating performance,
could adversely affect the market price of the Company’s Common Stock. Furthermore, fluctuations in the Company’s operating results, announcements regarding
litigation, the loss of a significant vendor partner or customer, increased competition, reduced vendor incentives and trade credit, higher operating expenses, and other
developments, could have a significant impact on the market price of our Common Stock.
 ​

Inflation. We have historically not been adversely affected by inflation, as abrupt changes in technology, rapid changes in customer preferences, short product life
cycles and evolving industry standards within the IT industry have generally caused the prices of the products we sell to decline. This requires us to sell new products and
have growth in unit sales of existing products in order to increase our net sales. We believe that most price increases could be passed on to our customers, as prices charged
by us are not set by long-term contracts; however, as a result of competitive pressure, there can be no assurance that the full effect of any such price increases could be
passed on to our customers or cause a reduction in our customers spending.
 ​
Financial Overview
 ​

Net sales increased 49%, or $45.6 million, to $138.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to $92.4 million for the same period in the prior
year. Gross profit increased 37%, or $6.4 million, to $23.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025, compared to $17.0 million for the same period in the prior
year. Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses increased 34%, or $4.2 million, to $16.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to
$12.5 million for the same period in the prior year. Depreciation and amortization expense increased 99%, or $0.9 million, to $1.7 million for the three months ended March
31, 2025 compared to $0.9 million for the same period in the prior year. Net income increased 35%, or $1.0 million, to $3.7 million for the three months ended March 31,
2025 compared to $2.7 million for the same period in the prior year. Diluted income per share increased 35%, or $0.21 to $0.81 for the three months ended March 31, 2025
compared to $0.60 for the same period in the prior year.
 ​
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 ​

Management’s discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Company’s consolidated financial
statements that have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
 ​

On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to product returns, bad debts, inventories, intangible assets, income taxes, stock-
based compensation, contingencies and litigation.
 ​

The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
 ​

The Company believes the following critical accounting policies used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements affect its more significant
judgments and estimates.
 ​
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Revenue
 ​

The Company utilizes judgment regarding performance obligations inherent in the products for services it sells including, whether ongoing maintenance
obligations performed by third party vendors are distinct from the related software licenses, and allocation of sales prices among distinct performance obligations. These
estimates require significant judgment to determine whether the software’s functionality is dependent on ongoing maintenance or if substantially all functionality is
available in the original software download. We also use judgment in the allocation of sales proceeds among performance obligations, utilizing observable data such as
stand-alone selling prices, or market pricing for similar products and services.
 ​
Allowances for Expected Credit Losses
 

The Company maintains allowances for expected credit losses for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments.
Management determines the estimate of the allowance for expected credit losses by considering a number of factors, including historical experience, aging of the accounts
receivable, as well as current market conditions and future forecasts of our customers’ ability to make payments for goods and services.
 
Business Combinations
 ​

We apply the provisions of ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”), in accounting for our acquisitions. ASC 805 requires that we evaluate whether a
transaction pertains to an acquisition of assets, or to an acquisition of a business. A business is defined as an integrated set of assets and activities that is capable of being
conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return to investors. Asset acquisitions are accounted for by allocating the cost of the acquisition to the individual
assets and liabilities assumed on a relative fair value basis; whereas the acquisition of a business requires us to recognize separately from goodwill the assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed at the acquisition date fair values. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the
acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
 ​

Our valuation of acquired assets and assumed liabilities requires estimates, especially with respect to intangible assets that was derived using valuation techniques
and models such as the income approach. Such models require use of estimates including discount rates, and future expected revenue. The approach to estimating an initial
contingent consideration associated with the purchase price also uses similar unobservable factors such as projected cash flows over the term of the contingent earn-out
period, discounted for the period over which the initial contingent consideration is measured and expected volatility. Based upon these assumptions, the initial contingent
consideration is then valued using a Monte Carlo simulation.
 ​

We have used third-party qualified specialists to assist management in determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. This includes assistance
with the determination of economic useful lives and valuation of identifiable intangibles.
 ​

We estimate the fair value based upon assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results
may differ from our estimates. Estimates associated with the accounting for acquisitions may change as additional information becomes available regarding the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the business acquisition date, we record certain adjustments
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill.  
 ​

All acquisition-related costs are accounted for as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Contingent consideration is remeasured each reporting period
using Level 3 inputs, and the change in fair value, including accretion for the passage of time, is recognized in change in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration in
the consolidated statement of earnings.
 ​
Goodwill
 ​

We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs, or circumstances change, that would more likely than not reduce
the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. The Company performs an evaluation of goodwill, utilizing either a qualitative or quantitative impairment test.
The annual test for impairment is conducted as of October 1. The Company’s reporting units included in the assessment of potential goodwill impairment are the same as its
operating segments. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to periodic testing for impairment at the reporting unit level.
 ​
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In a qualitative assessment, we assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine that it is not more likely
than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the quantitative goodwill impairment test is unnecessary.
 ​

If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, then we perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test. We may also elect the unconditional option to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit in
any period and proceed directly to performing the quantitative goodwill impairment test.
 ​

In the quantitative impairment test, we compare the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit
exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not impaired. Conversely, if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an
impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.
 ​

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including net sales growth
rates, gross profit margins, operating margins, discount rates and future market conditions, among others. Any changes in the judgments, estimates or assumptions used
could produce significantly different results.
 ​
Intangible Assets
 ​

Intangible assets with determinable lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives, which is determined based on their
expected period of benefit, or are amortized weighted toward their expected periods of benefit.. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future undiscounted cash flows, an impairment
loss is recorded for the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its fair value. In addition, each quarter, the Company evaluates whether events and circumstances warrant
a revision to the remaining estimated useful life of each of these intangible assets. If the Company were to determine that a change to the remaining estimated useful life of
an intangible asset was necessary, then the remaining carrying amount of the intangible asset would be amortized prospectively over that revised remaining useful life.
 ​
Income Taxes
 ​

The Company has considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance
related to deferred tax assets. In the event the Company were to determine that it would not be able to realize all or part of its net deferred tax assets in the future, an
adjustment to the deferred tax assets would be charged to income in the period such determination was made.
 ​
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Foreign Exchange
 ​

The Company’s foreign currency exposure relates primarily to international transactions where the currency collected from customers can be different from the
currency used to purchase the product. In cases where the Company is not able to create a natural hedge by maintaining offsetting asset and liability amounts in the same
currency, it may enter into foreign exchange contracts, typically in the form of forward purchase agreements, to facilitate the hedging of foreign currency exposures to
mitigate the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These contracts generally have terms of no more than two months. The Company does not apply hedge
accounting to these contracts and therefore the changes in fair value are recorded in earnings. The Company does not enter into foreign exchange contracts for trading
purposes and the risk of loss on a foreign exchange contract is the risk of nonperformance by the counterparties, which the Company minimizes by limiting its
counterparties to major financial institutions. The Company recognized an unrealized loss of less than $0.1 million on contracts outstanding as of March 31, 2025, which is
included in foreign currency transaction loss in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.
 ​
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 ​

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, “Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic
220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses”. This ASU requires entities to disaggregate expense items in the notes to the financial statements and requires
disclosure of specified information related to purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and intangible asset amortization. The amendments in this ASU
are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Companies have the option to apply the
guidance either on a retrospective or prospective basis, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the ASU on its condensed
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU No. 2025-01, Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income –
Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Clarifying the Effective Date. This ASU amends the effective date of ASU No. 2024-03 to clarify that all public
business entities are required to adopt the guidance in annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption of ASU No. 2024-03 is permitted.
 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “ Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures ”. Upon adoption of this ASU, the
Company will disclose specific new categories in its income tax rate reconciliation and provide additional information for reconciling items above a quantitative threshold.
The Company will also disclose the amount of income taxes paid disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign taxes, and also disaggregated by individual jurisdictions in
which income taxes paid were above a threshold. The Company expects these amendments will first be applied in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2025, on a prospective basis.​
 ​
Results of Operations
 ​

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated certain financial information derived from the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated statements of
earnings expressed as a percentage of net sales. This comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results:
 ​
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
Net sales     100.0%    100.0%
Cost of sales     83.1      81.6 
Gross profit   16.9      18.4 
Selling, general and administrative expenses     12.1      13.5 
Acquisition related costs     0.1      0.1 
Depreciation and amortization expense     1.3      0.9 
Income from operations     3.5      3.8 
Other income     (0.3)     0.1 
Income before income taxes     3.1      3.9 
Income tax provision     0.4      1.0 
Net income     2.7%    3.0%
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Key Business Metrics
 
GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures
 ​

Our management monitors several financial and non-financial measures and ratios on a regular basis in order to track the progress of our business. We believe that
the most important of these measures and ratios include net sales, gross profit and net income, in each case based on information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP,
as well as certain non-GAAP financial measures and ratios which include adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of gross profit, or effective margin.
Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company’s performance or financial position that either excludes or includes amounts that are
correspondingly not normally excluded or included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our use of non-
GAAP information as analytical tools has limitations, and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our financial results reported under U.S.
GAAP, as these measures used by management may differ from similar measures used by other companies, even when similar terms are used to identify such measures.

 
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,     March 31,  
Net income reconciled to adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP):   2025     2024  
​   ​     ​  
Net income   $ 3,684    $ 2,731 

Provision for income taxes     564      890 
Depreciation and amortization     1,737      871 
Interest expense     69      101 

EBITDA     6,054      4,593 
Share-based compensation     1,323      822 
Acquisition related costs     126      123 

Change in fair value of acquisition contingent consideration     136      — 
Adjusted EBITDA   $ 7,639    $ 5,538 
 ​

We define adjusted EBITDA, as net income, plus provision for income taxes, depreciation, amortization, share-based compensation, interest, acquisition related
costs and changes in the fair value of contingent considerations. We define effective margin as adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of gross profit. We provided a
reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income, which is the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure. We use adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure of our
performance to gain insight into our businesses profitability, operating performance and performance trends, and to provide management and investors a useful measure for
period-to-period comparisons by excluding items that management believes are not reflective of our underlying operating performance. Accordingly, we believe that
Adjusted EBITDA and effective margin provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results. Adjusted EBITDA is also a
component to our financial covenants in our credit facility. Our use of adjusted EBITDA has limitations, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for
analysis of our financial results as reported under U.S. GAAP. In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, might calculate adjusted EBITDA, or
similarly titled measures differently, which may reduce their usefulness as comparative measures.

 
Key Operational Metrics
 

We also use a variety of operating and other information to evaluate the operating performance of our business, develop financial forecasts, make strategic
decisions, and prepare and approve annual budgets. Gross billings are the total dollar value of customer purchases of goods and services during the period, net of customer
returns and credit memos, sales, or other taxes. Gross billings include the transaction values for certain sales transactions that are recognized on a net basis, and, therefore,
include amounts that will not be recognized as revenue. We use gross billings and gross profit as a percentage of gross billings, or gross billings margin, as operational
metrics to assess the volume of transactions or market share for our business as well as to understand changes in our accounts receivable and accounts payable. We believe
gross billings and gross billings margin will aid investors in the same manner.
 
​   Three months ended  
​   March 31,     March 31,  
​   2025     2024  
​   ​     ​  
Net sales   $ 138,044    $ 92,422 
​   ​     ​  
Gross profit   $ 23,396    $ 17,020 
Gross profit - Distribution   $ 20,399    $ 14,215 
Gross profit - Solutions   $ 2,997    $ 2,805 
​   ​     ​  
Non-GAAP Financial Measures:                
Adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP)   $ 7,639    $ 5,538 
​   ​     ​  
Effective margin % - Adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP)     32.7%    32.5%
                 
Operational Metrics:                
Gross billings   $ 474,596    $ 355,269 
Gross billings - Distribution   $ 453,575    $ 334,637 
Gross billings - Solutions   $ 21,021    $ 20,632 
                 
Gross billings margin % - Gross billings     4.9%    4.8%
 

We consider gross profit growth and effective margin to be key metrics in evaluating our business. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, gross profit
increased 37%, or $6.4 million, to $23.4 million compared to $17.0 million for the same period in the prior year while effective margin increased to 32.7% compared to
32.5% for the same period in the prior year.
 ​
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Acquisitions
 

On July 31, 2024, we completed the acquisition of DSS for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $20.3 million (subject to certain adjustments) plus a
potential post-closing earnout payment.  The operating results of DSS are included in our in our operating results from the date of acquisition within our Distribution
segment.
 
Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
 ​
Net Sales and Gross Billings
 ​

Net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 49%, or $45.6 million, to $138.0 million compared to $92.4 million for the same period in the prior
year. Gross billings, an operational metric, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 34%, or $119.3 million, to $474.6 million compared to $355.3 million for
the same period in the prior year. Net sales and gross billings increased due to both organic growth from our existing vendor partnerships as well as the impact of the
acquisition of DSS. Gross billings increased at a lesser rate than net sales due to differences in the product mix between the two periods. During the three months ended
March 31, 2025, gross billings included a greater percentage of hardware and software products, which are recorded on a gross basis, while during the three months ended
March 31, 2024, gross billings included a greater percentage of security, maintenance and cloud products, which are recorded net of related cost of sales.
 ​
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Distribution segment net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 52%, or $45.4 million, to $132.2 million compared to $86.8 million for the
same period in the prior year. Gross billings for the Distribution segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 36%, or $119.0 million, to $453.6 million
compared to $334.6 million for the same period in the prior year. Net sales increased at a greater rate than gross billings increased due to the impact of hardware and
software sales recognized during the current period, which are recorded on a gross basis.
 ​

Solutions segment net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2025, increased 5%, or $0.3 million, to $5.9 million compared to $5.6 million for the same
period in the prior year. Gross billings for the Solutions segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 2%, or $0.4 million, to $21.0 million compared to
$20.6 million for the same period in the prior year. Net sales increased at a greater rate than gross billings due to differences in the product mix between the two periods.
 ​

The Company had two major customers that accounted for 26% and 13%, respectively, of its total net sales during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and
20% and 15%, respectively, of its  total net sales during the three months ended March 31, 2024. The Company had one major vendor  that accounted for 13% of total
purchases during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 16% of total purchases during the three months ended March 31, 2024.
 ​
Gross Profit
 ​

Gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 37%, or $6.4 million, to $23.4 million compared to $17.0 million for the same period in the prior
year. Gross profit increased due to both organic growth from our existing vendor partnerships as well as the impact of the acquisition of DSS.
 ​

Distribution segment gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 44%, or $6.2 million, to $20.4 million compared to $14.2 million for the
same period in the prior year. The increase in Distribution segment gross profit was due to the aforementioned organic growth from our existing vendor partnerships as well
as the contribution from the acquisition of DSS, partially offset by higher early pay discounts and other rebates and discounts offered to our customers as a percentage of
gross billings.
 ​

Solutions segment gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 7%, or $0.2 million, to $3.0 million compared to $2.8 million for the same
period in the prior year. This increase was driven by the aforementioned increase in gross billings compared to the same period in the prior year.
 ​

Customer rebates and discounts for the three months ended March 31, 2025 were $4.6 million compared to $3.3 million for the same period in the prior year.
Customer rebates and discounts vary based on terms of rebate and early pay discount programs offered to customers and timing of payments ultimately received from our
customers.
 ​

Vendor rebates and discounts for the three months ended March 31, 2025 were $4.7 million compared to $1.9 million for the same period in the prior year. Vendor
rebates are dependent on programs offered by our vendors and in some cases reaching certain volume targets set by our vendors or meeting certain early payment programs
offered by our vendors. The Company monitors vendor rebate levels, competitive pricing, and gross profit margins carefully.
 ​
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 ​

SG&A expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased 34%, or $4.3 million, to $16.8 million compared to $12.5 million for the same period in the
prior year. This increase was primarily due to the impact of the acquisition of DSS as well as an increase in salaries, commissions and other employee related expenses in
support of the increased gross profit. SG&A expenses were 3.5% of gross billings for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Company expects
that its SG&A expenses, as a percentage of gross billings, may vary depending on changes in sales volume, as well as the levels of continuing investments to drive future
growth.
 ​
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
 ​

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2025, increased 99%, or $0.8 million, to $1.7 million compared to $0.9 million for
the same period in the prior year, primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets acquired in the DSS acquisition as well as increased amortization for a vendor
relationship acquired through a prior year acquisition. The Company received notice of termination of its distribution agreement from this vendor and therefore changed the
amortization life of the intangible asset to a shorter period to reflect the expected period of benefits.
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Acquisition Related Costs
 ​

Acquisition related costs for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 remained consistent at $0.1 million, respectively.
 

Income Taxes
 ​

We compute interim period income taxes by applying an anticipated annual effective tax rate to our year-to-date income or loss from operations before income
taxes, except for significant unusual or infrequently occurring items and discrete items. As a result, our estimated tax rate is adjusted each quarter. For the three months
ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.6 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The effective tax rate for the three
months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was 13.3% and 24.6%, respectively. The change in effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the
same period in the prior year was impacted by a discrete item for the recognition of excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation in income tax expense, changes
in the mix of jurisdictions in which taxable income was earned, as well as limitations on the deductibility of certain executive compensation amounts during both periods. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 ​

Our cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2025 increased 9%, or $2.7 million, to $32.5 million compared to $29.8 million as of December 31, 2024.
 ​

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $8.5 million, comprised primarily of net income
adjusted for non-cash items of $6.9 million, partially offset by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $1.5 million.
 ​

Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $0.7 million purchases of fixed assets supporting our
ongoing ERP project and new leasehold improvements.
 ​

Net cash and cash equivalents used in financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $5.3 million, comprised of payments of contingent
considerations of $3.6 million, purchases of treasury stock of $0.9 million, dividend payments on our Common Stock of $0.8 million and  repayments of borrowings under
term loan of $0.1 million.

 
On May 18, 2023, the Company entered into a revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPM”), providing for a

revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million, including the issuance of letters of credit and swingline loans not to exceed $2.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively, at any
time outstanding. In addition, subject to certain conditions enumerated in the Credit Agreement, the Company has the right to increase the revolving credit facility by a total
amount not to exceed $20.0 million. The proceeds of the revolving loans, letters of credit and swingline loans under the Credit Agreement may be used for working capital
needs, general corporate purposes and for acquisitions permitted by the terms of the Credit Agreement. All outstanding loans issued pursuant to the Credit Agreement
become due and payable, on May 18, 2028. There were no amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2025.

 
On April 8, 2022, the Company entered into a $2.1 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) with First American Commercial Bancorp, Inc. (“First American”)

pursuant to a Master Loan and Security Agreement. The proceeds from the Term Loan was used to fund certain capital expenditures. The borrowing under the Term Loan
bears interest at a rate of 3.73% per annum and is being repaid over forty-eight monthly installments of principal and interest through April 2026.  As of March 31, 2025, the
Company had $0.6 million outstanding under the Term Loan.
 ​
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In connection with the acquisition of Data Solutions, which was completed October 6, 2023, the Company acquired an IDF that was with recourse to the Company.
Data Solutions had previously entered into the IDF with AIB Commercial Finance Limited ("AIB") pursuant to a Debt Purchase Agreement. The Company subsequently
terminated the IDF during the year ended December 31, 2024. The proceeds from the IDF were used for working capital needs of Data Solutions. Borrowings under the IDF
were based on accounts receivable up to 80% of the outstanding accounts receivable balance. The discount rate under the IDF was equal to 2.5% above AIB's applicable
lending rates that varied based on the currency of the accounts receivable.

 
We anticipate that our working capital needs will increase as we invest in the growth of our business. We believe that the funds held in cash and cash equivalents

and our unused borrowings under our Credit Agreement will be sufficient to fund our working capital and cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our uses of
cash beyond the next 12 months will depend on many factors, including the general economic environment in which we operate and our ability to generate cash flow from
operations, which we are uncertain but include funding our operations and additional capital expenditures. We continuously evaluate our liquidity and capital resources,
including access to external capital, to ensure we can finance our longer-term capital requirements.
 ​
Foreign Exchange
 ​

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries are subject to changes in demand or pricing resulting from fluctuations in currency exchange rates or other factors. We are
subject to fluctuations primarily in the Canadian Dollar, Euro Dollar and British Pound-to-U.S. Dollar exchange rate.
 ​
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 ​

As of March 31, 2025, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities
Act of 1934, as amended.
 ​
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 ​

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. This market risk is principally limited to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
 

We conduct international operations in Canada, the United Kingdom and throughout Europe. Our results of operations are subject to both foreign currency
transaction risk and currency translation risk. We have foreign currency transaction risk when transactions are not denominated in our subsidiaries’ functional currency,
which include purchases and sales of the products and services we provide. With respect to currency translation risk, our financial condition and results of operations are
measured and recorded in the relevant functional currency and then translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion in our condensed consolidated financial statements. In recent
years, exchange rates between these foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar have fluctuated significantly and may do so in the future.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 ​

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that material information relating to us is made known to the officers who certify as to our financial reports and to other members
of senior management and the Board of Directors.  These disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports
that are filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.  
 ​

As required by Rule  13a-15(b)  under the Exchange Act, our management carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report.  This evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with
the participation of various members of our management, including our Company’s Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and  Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer). Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms and is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate,
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 ​ ​

As previously disclosed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, on July 31, 2024, we completed the acquisition of DSS. SEC guidance permits management to
omit an assessment of an acquired business’ internal control over financial reporting from management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting for a period
not to exceed one year from date of acquisition. We are in the process of integrating DSS operations within our internal control structure. In executing this integration, we
are analyzing, evaluating, and where necessary, making changes in controls and procedures related to the DSS business. Accordingly, management has excluded controls
relating to DSS in this quarter’s evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Except for the acquisition of DSS described above, there has been no change in our internal control over

financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) under the Exchange Act, that occurred during the three months ended March
31, 2025, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 

The nature of our business exposes the Company and its subsidiaries to the risk of claims and litigation in the normal course of business. Other than routine
litigation arising out of the ordinary course of business, we are not presently subject to any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any material litigation threatened
against us. 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 

You should carefully consider the risks described in "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2024, as our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by any of the risks and uncertainties described therein. There have been no
material changes to the risk factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.
 ​
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 ​

The table below sets forth the repurchase of Common Stock by the Company and its affiliated purchasers during the first quarter of 2025.
 ​

ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES
 ​
​   ​     ​     ​     ​     Maximum  
​   ​     ​     ​     ​     Number of  
​   ​     ​     Total Number     ​     Shares That  
​   ​     ​     of Shares     ​     May Yet Be  
​   Total     ​     Purchased as     ​     Purchased  
​   Number     ​     Part of Publicly     ​     Under the  
​   of Shares     Average     Announced     Average     Plans or  
​   Purchased     Price Paid     Plans or     Price Paid     Programs  
Period   (1)     Per Share     Programs     Per Share     (2)  
​   ​     ​     ​     ​     ​  
January 1, 2025 - January 31, 2025     —    $ —      —    $ —      545,786 
February 1, 2025 - February 28, 2025     —    $ —      —    $ —      545,786 
March 1, 2025 - March 31, 2025     —    $ —      —    $ —      545,786 

Total     —    $ —      —    $ —      545,786 
 

 
(1) Does not include 7,110 shares surrendered, or deemed surrendered, to the Company by employees to satisfy individual tax withholding obligations upon vesting of

previously issued shares of Restricted Stock.
 ​
(2) For the quarter ended March 31, 2025, we did not repurchase any shares of our Common Stock under our share repurchase plans referred to in footnote (3) below.
 ​
(3) On December 3, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company approved an increase of 500,000 shares of Common Stock to the number of shares of Common Stock

available for repurchase under its repurchase plans. On February 2, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company approved an increase of 500,000 shares of Common
Stock to the number of shares of Common Stock available for repurchase under its repurchase plans. The Company expects to purchase shares of its Common Stock
from time to time in the market or otherwise subject to market conditions. The timing, number and value of shares of Common Stock repurchased are subject to the
Company’s discretion. The Common Stock repurchase program does not have an expiration date.

 
 
Item 5. Other Information
 
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans
 ​

During the three months ended March 31, 2025, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) informed us of the adoption or
termination of a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as those terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 ​
​ ​ Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No.

Description of Exhibit Form Exhibit
or

Annex

Filing Date File Number

​​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. 10-K 3.1 March 11, 2025 000-26408
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
3.1(a) Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. 10-Q 3.1(a) November 3, 2006 000-26408
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
3.1(b) Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Information of the Company. 8-K 3.1 October 27, 2022 000-26408
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. 8-K 3.1 December 8, 2022 000-26408
           
10.1 Separation Agreement between Climb Global Solutions, Inc. and Andrew Clark, dated January 13,

2025
8-K 10.1 January 13, 2025 000-26408

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
31.1* Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, of

Dale Foster, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
​ ​ ​ ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
31.2* Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, of

Matthew Sullivan, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
​ ​ ​ ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
32.1# Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, of Dale Foster, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
​ ​ ​ ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
32.2# Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, of Matthew Sullivan, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
​ ​ ​ ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
101 The following financial information from Climb Global Solutions, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-

Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2025, filed with the SEC on May 1, 2025, formatted in Inline XBRL
(Extensible Business Reporting Language) includes: (1) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets,
(2) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, (3) Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity, (4) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (5)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (6) the Notes to the Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.

​ ​ ​ ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File – The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the

Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
​ ​ ​ ​

           
* Filed herewith        
# Furnished herewith. This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section,
nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Exchange Act.

       

 ​
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SIGNATURES
 ​
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.
 ​
​ ​ ​ CLIMB GLOBAL SOLUTIONS, INC
​ ​ ​ ​
May 1, 2025 ​ By: /s/ Dale Foster
Date ​ ​ Dale Foster, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
​ ​ ​ ​
​ ​ ​ ​
May 1, 2025 ​ By: /s/ Matthew Sullivan
Date ​ ​ Matthew Sullivan, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer)
 ​
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Exhibit 31.1
 ​
CERTIFICATION
 ​
I, Dale Foster, certify that:
 ​
1.    I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Climb Global Solutions, Inc.;
 ​
2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 ​
3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 ​
4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 ​
(a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;
 ​
(b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
 ​
(c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 ​
(d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
 ​
5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 ​
(a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 ​
(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
 ​
Date: May 1, 2025
 ​
 
/s/ Dale Foster ​
Dale Foster ​
Chief Executive Officer ​
(Principal Executive Officer) ​
 ​
 



Exhibit 31.2
 ​
CERTIFICATION
 ​
I, Matthew Sullivan, certify that:
 ​
1.    I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Climb Global Solutions, Inc.;
 ​
2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 ​
3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 ​
4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 ​
(a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;
 ​
(b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
 ​
(c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 ​
(d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
 ​
5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 ​
(a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 ​
(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
 ​
Date: May 1, 2025
 ​
 
/s/ Matthew Sullivan ​
Matthew Sullivan ​
Chief Financial Officer ​
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) ​
 ​
 



Exhibit 32.1
 ​

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 ​
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Climb Global Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dale Foster, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:
 ​
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 ​
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 ​
 
/s/ Dale Foster ​
Dale Foster ​
Chief Executive Officer ​
(Principal Executive Officer) ​
May 1, 2025 ​
 ​
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 



Exhibit 32.2
 ​

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 ​
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Climb Global Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Matthew Sullivan, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:
 ​
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 ​
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 ​
 
/s/ Matthew Sullivan ​
Matthew Sullivan ​
Chief Financial Officer ​
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) ​
May 1, 2025 ​
 ​
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 


